ASSIGNMENTSORERROR- - -- -- .---- -----_. 

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1: The trial court's instruction to the jury concerning 

the statutory duty of a public citizen to yield the right of way to an approaching emergency 

vehicle improperly stated the law as the instruction predicated the duty to yield upon the citizen's 

subjective perception of an approaching emergency vehicle. 

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: 

The trial court's instruction to the jury stating that a "higher" standard of care was 

applicable to Officer Miller, due to the fact that Miller is a police officer, was misleading and 

improperly stated the law as Officer Miller's conduct was subject to the "due care" or

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

On August 22, 2013, at approximately 10:00 a.m. Parkersburg Police Officer Daniel 

Miller ("Miller" or "Officer Miller") was travelling southbound in his police cruiser on Grand 

Central Avenue in Vienna, West Virginia when he overheard radio traffic from another police 

officer on his police radio. (A.R. V. II. 213-14). The call came from Officer Ian Boice who stated 

that he was out ofhis cruiser with multiple subjects at an area in north Parkersburg. (A.R. V. II. 

213-215, 367 at p. 62-64)1. After hearing this radio transmission Officer Miller continued 

travelling along Grand Central A venue until he heard Officer Boice callout a second time 

stating that he was "in a foot pursuit." (A.R. V. II. 214). Miller observed that Boice was speaking 

with "labored breathing" and "angst" in his voice. (A.R. V. II. 214). Boice testified at trial that 

his voice during the second call likely sounded "stressed" and reflected an "officer in distress" 

because he was chasing a suspect and he didn't know what was "about to unfold[.],,(A.R. V. II. 

368 at p. 66-67). 

Due to the way Boice had called out across the police radio the second time, Miller 

became concerned that Boice's situation with the multiple subjects had become dangerous and 

thus feared for Boice's safety. (A.R. V. II. 214). At that point, Miller deemed the situation to be a 

1 Citations to full page transcripts in the appendix record are to their respective appendix record page number and 
not the page in which the transcript was originally numbered. (For example: AR. v. n. I). Citations to condensed 
transcripts, which contain multiple pages of the transcript on one page, reference the appendix record number first 
and then the page number of the original transcript to which counsel is citing. (For example: A.R. V. IV. 1, pp. 2-4). 
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potential emergency. (A.R. V. II. 215-216). Miller then activated his lights and siren because he 

"knew [he] needed to get there quickly." (A.R. V. II. 216). 

After activating his lights and siren, Miller continued travelling southbound on Grand 

Central Avenue in the direction ofnorth Parkersburg. (A.R. V. II. 217). Grand Central Avenue 

later becomes, or turns into, Murdoch Avenue at the road's intersection with Lakeview Drive. 

(A.R. V. I.V. 2 at p. 7). The road constituting Grand Central Avenue and Murdoch Avenue 

consists of three northbound lanes and three southbound lanes separated by a center turning lane. 

(A.R. V. III. 89). 

(A.R. V. lli. 89). The intersection depicted in the image is the Lakeview drive intersection. Grand Central Avenue 
proceeds horizontally into the intersection from the left side of the image then becomes Murdoch A venue as it exits 
the intersection to the right. The road proceeding vertically from the intersection toward the top of the image is 
Lakeview Drive. The large brown roof in the bottom right comer of the photo depicts Buffalo Wild Wings 
restaurant. The vehicles depicted in the image bear no relationship to any vehicles involved in the accident and are 
simply vehicles that were apparently on the road when this satellite photo was taken. 
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As Officer Miller traveled south toward the Lakeview intersection he approached and 

passed several vehicles also travelling southbound. In the area of a Home Depot store located on 

Grand Central A venue, Miller approached and passed the vehicle of Richard and Judy Corbitt 

(A.R. V. IV. 22 at p. 10; 41 at pp. 7-8). Mr. Corbitt who was driving, and Mrs. Corbitt, who was 

a passenger both heard Miller's siren and saw his emergency lights as he approached their 

vehicle from behind. (A.R. V. IV. 22, p. 9; 41, pp. 7-8). Miller then passed the Corbitts on the 

left and proceeded south. (A.R. V. IV. 22, p. 12; 41, pp. 7-8). 

Also in the general vicinity of the Home Depot store Miller approached the vehicle of 

Jeffrey and Debra Higgins as he continued travelling south. (A.R. V. IV. 2, p. 7; 15, pp. 6-7). 

Mr. Higgins was driving the vehicle and both he and Mrs. Higgins heard Miller's sirens and saw 

flashing emergency lights as Miller approached. (A.R. V. IV. 2, pp. 7-8; 15, pp. 6-7). Upon 

hearing the sirens and seeing the lights, Mr. Higgins maneuvered his vehicle to allow Miller to 

pass. (A.R. V. IV. 2, pp. 7-8). 

After Miller passed the Corbitts and the Higgins' vehicles and headed toward the 

Lakeview intersection, both Mr. Corbitt and Mr. Higgins caught back up to Officer Miller in the 

area approaching the Lakeview intersection. (A.R. V. IV. 3, p. 9; 23, pp. 13-14). Miller testified 

that he had previously recalled that he stopped at the Lakeview intersection before proceeding 

through but that in actuality he believed that is was more accurate that he slowed. (A.R. V. II. 

245). Mr. Corbitt and Mr. Higgins both observed Officer Miller approach and clear the Lakeview 

intersection. Mr. Corbitt, who was a fire truck driver for thirty four years and an ambulance 

driver for nineteen, observed that Miller proceeded through the intersection with "due care." 

(A.R. V. IV. 21 pp. 6-7; 25, p. 22). Mr. Higgins recalled that Miller apparently braked and 
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slowed before proceeding through the intersection as he saw the cruiser's brake lights come on. 

(A.R. V. N. 3, p. 12). 

Positioned southbound at the Lakeview intersection in the center turning lane attempting 

to turn left onto Lakeview Drive was driver Cheryl Lauderman and passenger Kameron Morris. 

(A.R. V. N. 92, p. 6). Lauderman and Morris, who were sitting stationary while waiting to turn, 

both perceived the police cruiser as it passed them on the right at what they believed to be a high 

rate of speed with its' siren activated.(A.R. V. IV. 76, pp. 9-10; 92, pp. 6-7; 93, p. 8). 

After Miller's cruiser cleared the intersection, it veered to the far right southbound lane in 

order to avoid cars situated in the center left hand southbound lanes. (A.R. V. IV. 4, pp. 13-14; 

23, p. 16; 43, p. 13; 59, pp. 31-32). One of those vehicles was being driven by Andrea Davis who 

was in the center southbound lane of Murdoch Avenue after the Lakeview intersection. (A.R. V. 

IV. at 54, p 12; 55, pp. 13-14). Ms. Davis saw the police cruiser's lights and heard its siren as it 

approached her. (A.R. V. IV. 55 pp. 15-16). Rather than pulling her vehicle to the right to yield 

to the cruiser, Davis slowed in the center lane. (A.R. V. IV. 55, p. 14). 

At approximately the same time, Kevin Allman ("Allman") proceeded in his vehicle to 

the exit of a parking lot located adjacent to a Buffalo Wild Wings restaurant just past the 

Lakeview intersection to turn right onto Murdoch Avenue south. (A.R. V. II 370, p. 76). As 

Jeffrey Higgins cleared the Lakeview intersection, Higgins observed Allman's car at the exit of 

parking lot and stated to his wife: "I think he's [Allman] is going to pull out in front of that cop." 

(A.R. V. IV. 4, p. 15). Also at this time, Andrea Davis noticed Allman about to pull up to the 

edge of the parking lot with his window down, do a "California roll", and then proceed to pull 

out. (A.R. V. IV. 56, pp. 19-20). Davis "grabbed a hold of [her] steering wheel" when she saw 
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Allman attempting to pull out and stated to herself: "Why are you doing this? Stop. Don't pull 

out. Because there's a cop coming." (A.R. V. IV. 56, p. 16). 

Allman then proceeded to pull out. (A.R. V. II. 370, p. 76). Allman asserts that he turned 

left to look toward the Lakeview intersection to check for traffic before pulling out of the parking 

lot, then proceeded to pull out into the curb lane. (A.R. V. II. 370, p. 76). Allman claims that it 

was not until he pulled out that he saw the police cruiser approaching with its lights activated. 

(A.R. V. II. 370, p. 76). Allman then made the "conscious" effort to shift to the center 

southbound lane of traffic. (A.R. V. II. 370, p. 76). Immediately thereafter, Officer Miller's 

cruiser collided with Allman's car in a rear end collision. (A.R. V. II. 370, p. 376). Both Officer 

Miller and Allman sustained injuries in the accident (A.R. V. III. 128). 

The evidence at trial was controverted as to whether or not Allman should have seen the 

police cruiser and yielded by remaining stopped in the parking lot had he exercised reasonable 

care. Jeffrey Higgins, Debra Higgins, Judy Corbitt, and Andrea Davis each testified that the 

lights and siren ofthe police cruiser were activated from at least the Lakeview intersection until 

the location of the accident. (A.R. V. IV. 3, p. 10; 4, p. 16; 15, pp. 7-8; 42, p. 12; 57 p. 22). 

Jeffrey Higgins and Davis both stated that they would have thought that Mr. Allman could have 

heard the siren or saw the lights. Higgins stated that he could hear the siren as far back as the 

intersection and that he "couldn't understand why anyone else wouldn't have heard it also." (A.R. 

V. N. 5, p. 17). Davis likewise testified that she "would have thought" that Allman would have 

seen and heard the police car because she "was in that situation and" she "seen and heard" the 

cruiser. (A.R. V. N. 57, p. 22-23). 

Richard Corbitt testified that he has hearing issues and that that the police cruiser was out 

ofhis hearing range after it cleared the intersection, however, he did observe that the police 
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cruiser's lights were activated from the intersection until the accident. (A.R. V. N. 24, p. 18). 

Corbitt believed that Allman should not have pulled out of the parking lot in front ofMiller 

because Allman could have seen the police cruiser ifhe had been keeping a proper lookout. 

(A.R. V. IV. 24, p. 20; 25, p. 21-22). This testimony was supported by Appellants' expert, Steve 

Chewning who testified that Allman had a clear view of the Lakeview intersection when Allman 

was about to pull out of the parking lot. (A.R. V. VII. 187). 

On the other hand, Cheryl Lauderman and Kameron Morris testified that testified that 

although the sirens ofthe police cruiser were activated from the Lakeview intersection until the 

point of impact they did not believe that Allman had sufficient time to perceive Officer Miller's 

cruiser and avoid the accident by stopping prior to pulling out. (A.R. V. IV. 78, pp. 18-19)(A.R. 

V. IV. 93, p. 9-11). Additionally, Lauderman testified that the emergency lights were activated in 

addition to the sirens from the Lakeview intersection until impact. (A.R. V. N. 92, p. 6). 

Laudennan and Morris's testimony was corroborated by Deputy Sheriff Brett Pickens, who 

assisted in the investigation and reconstruction of the accident. It was Pickens' opinion that there 

was no way that Miller stopped before proceeding through the intersection and essentially that 

Allman could not have perceived the police cruiser in sufficient time to react. (AR. V. II. 135

136). 

The only fact witness to testify that he neither heard the sirens nor or saw the emergency 

lights was Jim Hively who was sitting stationary in traffic behind a box truck on the north side of 

Murdoch Avenue across from Buffalo Wild Wings. (AR. V. II. 356). 

Wood County Deputy Sheriff G. Mike Deem was the lead investigator for the Wood 

County crash investigation team and issued a written accident report. (AR. V. II. 379, p. 109). 

As a result of his investigation, Deputy Deem concluded that Officer Miller's actions did not 
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contribute to the accident. (A.R. V. II. 379, p. 10; 380, p. 113). Deem concluded that Allman 

caused or contributed to the accident by failing to yield the right ofway to an emergency vehicle 

and by failing to yield generally, both in violation of West Virginia law. (A.R. V. II. 380 p. 

113). 

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Plaintiff Below, Appellee herein, Kevin Allman filed the present civil action against 

Daniel Miller and the City of Parkersburg on October 14, 2014. (A.R. V. 1. 1). Specifically, 

Allman asserted claims of negligence, gross negligence, reckless and wanton conduct, and strict 

liability against Officer Miller. (A.R V.!. 9-10, 12). Allman also asserted claims of independent 

negligence for negligent hiring, retention, training and/or supervision and vicarious liability 

against the City of Parkersburg. (A.R V. 1.10-11). Appellants filed an answer generally denying 

liability. (A.R. V. 1. 15-27). Thereafter, Miller and his wife filed a counterclaim against Miller 

asserting that Allman's negligence was the proximate cause of the car accident and Miller's 

resulting injuries. (A.R. V. I. 31-34). 

The matter was tried before the jury from November 15, 2016 to November 17, 2016. 

The issues to be tried before the jury were significantly narrowed before trial. First, Allman 

withdrew his claims of independent negligence against the City of Parkersburg and his personal 

liability claims against Officer Miller for reckless and wanton conduct. (A.R V. 1. 28-29, 127

128) Second, the Court granted Officer Miller's motion for summary judgment on Allman's 

strict liability claim. (A.R. V. II. 2-4). Third, Officer Miller and his wife Melissa's counterclaim 

was dismissed after Allman settled the counterclaim with the Millers (A.R. V. I. 130-132) Thus, 

Allman's claim of vicarious liability asserted against the City of Parkersburg for the alleged 
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negligence of Officer Miller was the only remaining claim of Plaintiffs to be tried before the 

jury. 

Prior to trial, the court also made several pre-trial rulings, some of which, are relevant to 

the instant appeal. First, the court granted without objection Appellants' motion to exclude 

"golden rule arguments" to the jury or otherwise ask the jury to put themselves in the shoes of 

the Plaintiff. (A.R. V. I 124-126)(A.R. V. II 26). Second, the Court granted Appellee's motion in 

limine to exclude evidence or testimony concerning the fact that Allmain had paid to settle 

Officer Miller's counterclaim. (A.R. V. 1. 35)(A.R. V. II 13,14,27). 

Before trial began, Appellants' counsel requested a juror list from the court clerk. At trial 

counsel inquired of the court immediately prior to voir dire as to whether Of not completed juror 

qualification fonns were available to the parties to review before jury selection. (A.R. V. II. 18). 

The court provided Appellants' counsel with a copy of a list of the names of potential jurors 

before the trial. Upon counsel's inquiry at trial, however, the court but infonned counsel that it 

was unaware of the existence of any such completed qualification fonns. (A.R. V. II. 18)(A.R. 

V. N. 118-119). 

At the conclusion of the testimony and evidence on November 17, 2016 the jury 

conducted its deliberations. (A.R. V. I. 133-134). On the same date, the jury feturned a verdict 

finding Officer Miller to have negligently caused the accident and awarding Allman $9,387.50 in 

damages for past medical expenses, $4,500.00 in lost wages, and $200,000.00 in general 

damages fOf pain, annoyance, inconvenience, humiliation, and lost enjoyment of life. (A.R. V. I 

133-134). A judgment order in the amount of the $213,887.50 verdict was entered on November 

18,2016. (A.R. V. 1. 133-134). 
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On December 1, 2016, Appellants filed a Motion for New Trial and/or Motion for 

Remittitur. In the Motion, Appellants asserted that: (1) The trial court improperly instructed the 

jury with regard to Plaintiffs duty to yield to an emergency vehicle and the appropriate standard 

of care applicable to Officer Miller; (2) The trial court erred in refusing to pennit Petitioner's 

Counsel the opportunity to cross examine the Appellee concerning Appellee's decision to settle 

Officer Miller's counterclaim; (3) The trial court should order a new trial or enter a remittitur 

reducing the jury's award of $200,000 in general damages as the award was monstrous 

enormous, and unreasonable; (4) The trial court should order a new trial or enter a remittitur 

reducing the jury's award of $4,500.00 for lost wages as this amount was based upon speCUlation 

and conjecture, and; (5) The trial court should reduce the verdict by the amount of first party 

insurance proceeds received by Allman in payment for medical treatment resulting from his 

injuries pursuant to the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. 

(A.R. v. I. 42-66). 

The trial court heard oral argument on the motion on December 28,2016. Ruling orally 

from the bench and by order entered on December 29, 2016, the trial court granted in part and 

denied in part, Petitioners' Motion for New Trial And/Or Motion for Remittitur. (A.R. V. I. 135

137). The court granted a reduction of the jury verdict in the amount of $4,477.13, for the 

amount of first party insurance proceeds received by Appellee that are subject to subrogation by 

the insurance carrier. (A.R. V. I. 135-137). This resulted in the jury's verdict being reduced to a 

$209,410.37 judgment in favor of Plaintiff. (A.R. V. I. 135-137). The Court denied all other 

relief requested by Appellants. Immediately following court's ruling on the Motionfor New Trial 

and/or Remittitur, Appellants' counsel discovered that completed juror qualification forms were 

filed with the court clerk approximately seven days before trial, thus making it available to the 

10 


http:209,410.37
http:4,477.13
http:4,500.00


court and thus to counsel to review prior to jury selection. Appellants filed their Notice of 

Appeal with this Honorable Court on January 27, 2017 appealing the trial court's failure to grant 

in whole their Motion for New Trial and/or Remittitur. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court erred by failing to grant Appellants a new trial when the jury was provided 

with erroneous instructions on substantive law, the court failed to provide counsel with juror 

qualification fonns upon request, and the court prohibited Appellants' counsel from eliciting 

testimony or evidence concerning the fact that Allman paid to settle Miller's counterclaim after 

Allman opened the door to such testimony. 

First, pursuant to well established legal precedent a jury instruction that improperly 

states the law or misleads the jury is erroneous and presumed to be prejudicial thus constituting 

reversible error. The lower court erroneously instructed the jury concerning the duty of to yield 

to an emergency vehicle by predicating the duty to yield upon a driver's subjective perception of 

the approaching emergency vehicle. Additionally, the court misled the jury by instructing the 

jury that Officer Miller's conduct, as a police officer, was simultaneously subject to a standard of 

reasonable care as well as a "higher" standard ofcare. 

Next, West Virginia Code section 52-1-5a(e) mandates that a trial court provide 

completed juror qualification fonns of potential trial jurors to counsel upon request. The trial 

court was in possession of completed juror qualification fonns approximately one week prior to 

trial. The trial court and the court clerk failed to fulfill its statutory obligation to provide the 

fonns to counsel when the court infonned counsel, immediately prior to jury selection upon 

counsel's inquiry, that the court was unaware of any such fonns being available for review by 

the parties. 

11 




Moreover, as a general rule, settlement negotiations are inadmissible. During the trial 

below, Appellee's counsel elicited testimony from Allman concerning the fact that Miller filed a 

counterclaim against Allman to demonstrate that Miller had a financial motive to lie and assert 

that he was not at fault for the accident. Thus Appellee opened the door to the settlement by 

placing the counterclaim in issue. The trial court, however, prohibited Appellants' counsel from 

cross examining Allman concerning the fact that he paid to settle Miller's counterclaim. 

The circuit court also committed reversible error by failing to grant a new trial or enter a 

remittitur of the jury verdict in light of the facts that as Allman's counsel inflamed the jury by 

asking the jury to themselves in the shoes of the plaintiff when assessing damages, the jury 

returned a $200,000 verdict for general damages that was monstrous and unreasonable in light of 

Allman's injuries, and the jury's award of $4,500 in lost wages was based entirely upon 

speculation. 

First, arguments to the jury asking them to put themselves in the position of the plaintiff 

when assessing damages are improper. During the course of closing argument, Allman's counsel 

asked the jury to assess general damages by determining how much it would be worth for one of 

them to volunteer to be in the same type of accident and receive the same type of injuries as 

Allman. This violated the court's pre-trial ruling prohibiting golden rule arguments at trial and 

improperly asked the jury to discard an objective analysis for general damages in exchange for a 

subjective analysis. 

Second, damage awards are to be set aside by the court when they are monstrous,

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