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

which was the subject of this litigation. Nothing in the trial court's instructions created any 

confusion, misapprehension, or mistake by the jury as to the law which applied to the conduct of 

Officer Miller and Kevin Allman on the day of the crash. 

III. 	 Response to Petitioner's Assignment of Error 3: Defense counsel's apparent failure to 
request juror questionnaires from the Circuit Clerk as set forth in West Virginia Code 
§52-1-5a is not grounds for reversal or appeal of the trial judgment. 

Petitioners' counsel contends that it was error for the court not to spontaneously provide 

him with juror questionnaires (presumably referring to the juror qualification forms prescribed by 

W.Va. Code §52-1-5a) in the possession of the circuit clerk. West Virginia Code §52-1-5a sets 

fOlth a procedure through which the circuit clerk issues qualification forms for completion by 

prospective jurors. Neither the court nor the clerk deviated from the law. 

Subsection (e) provides that the clerk shall make juror qualification questionnaires of 

prospective jurors "available, upon request, to counsel of record in the trial or trials for which the 

persons have been selected as prospective jurors." W.Va. Code §52-1-5a(e) (emphasis added). 

There is no indication in the record that the qualification forms were not made available to 

-15



counsel in this case and no indication of any request made to the clerk by petitioners' counsel for 

copies of the forms. 

There is no reason that the trial court would be aware of who had asked for copies of the 

questionnaires prior to a trial. It is only upon conclusion of a trial that the judge's permission is a 

necessary precedent for release of the juror qualification forms. West Virginia Code §52-1-5a( e). 

After the jurors were seated for voir dire examination, petitioners' counsel asked the 

court if there was a juror questionnaire that was given out to counsel. The court accurately 

responded "Not that I am aware of." (A.R. V.II, p. 51, lines 3-6). Petitioner's counsel did not ask 

if questionnaires existed-- the questionnaires exist in all circuit court cases in Wood COlIDty. Nor 

did petitioners' counsel ask the circuit clerk for a copy of the existing questionnaires. 

Bennett v. Warner, 179 W.Va. 742,372 S.E.2d 920 (1988), cited by petitioners, is 

distinguished on several grounds. First, Bennett involved a challenge to the juror selection 

process- the method of selecting persons to be summoned for jury service. It was not a challenge 

regarding the inability of counsel to adequately conduct voir dire and select jurors for trial from 

the panel ofjurors assembled, but rather a challenge to the process by which the potential jurors 

were selected for possible jury service in the first place. 

Second, as specifically referenced by Justice McGraw in the Bennett opinion, the statute 

which governed Bennett mandated juror qualification forms. Justice McGraw makes a point to 

note that subsequent amendments to the statute by the legislature nullified that mandatory 

requirement to utilize juror questionnaires as of July 1, 1988. The current statute leaves 

discretion with the circuit court, using the word "may" instead of "shall", and "if directed by the 

-16



court" with reference to the action of the circuit clerk in having juror qualification forms 

completed by prospective jurors. (West Virginia Code §52-1-5a(a)). 

Finally, in the Bennett case, the appellants preserved their objection. The Bennett 

appellants objected to the absence ofjuror qualification forms prior to empaneling the jury, 

moved to stay the proceedings in the trial court, and petitioned the West Virginia Supreme Court 

for a Writ of Prohibition. (Bennett v. Warner, !d. at footnote 2) Petitioners in this case took none 

of those actions. 

Petitioners' counsel asked the trial judge: "was there a juror questionnaire that was given 

out to counsel?" (A.R. V.II at 51, lines 4,5). The trial court's response, "Not that I am aware of," 

was 100% accurate. In Wood County the questionnaires are not "given out to counsel." If 

counsel wants a copy of the juror questionnaires, counsel requests a copy as provided in West 

Virginia Code §52-1-5a(e). Petitioners' counsel cannot complain on appeal that he failed to make 

any request for the juror qualification questionnaires which the Wood County Circuit Clerk 

routinely makes available to counsel in all cases. 

The record does not reflect that petitioners' counsel requested copies ofjuror 

qualification questionnaires in this case. Other than the question posed to the court regarding 

whether a questionnaire was "given out to counsel", the petitioners only reference any request for 

the questionnaires is counsel's statement in his appellate brief that he attempted to request the 

completed forms by having his legal assistant contact the circuit clerk's office. No testimony was 

adduced on the record from the unnamed legal assistant in support of that statement and no 

affidavit has been submitted. No representative of the circuit clerk's office has been produced to 

confirm that any such request had been made by a legal assistant for the petitioners's counsel. 
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This respondent cannot respond to an extrajudicial assertion of fact which is not supported by the 

appendix record before the Court. 

Petitioners have not alleged any cognizable prejudice arising from their own counsel's 

failure to request or procure questionnaires as provided in the statute' and they did not make or 

preserve any objection at trial. The failure of petitioners' counsel to request juror questionnaires 

from the circuit clerk is not grounds for reversal of the jury's verdict. The Bennett case cited by 

petitioners addressed the process of selecting jurors to be called for jury service, not the process 

of selecting jurors through voir dire. 

IV. 	 Response to Petitioner's Assignment of Error 4: The trial court properly refused to 
permit Petitioners' counsel to present evidence regarding Respondent Allman's car 
insurance company settling Petitioner Miller's counterclaim against Allman. 

Rule 408(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence unambiguously states that the 

following is not admissible: "furnishing, promising, or offering - or accepting, promising to 

accept, or offering to accept - a valuable consideration in compromising or attempting to 

compromise the claim." Petitioners do not identify any basis for their contention that the 

settlement ofMiller's counterclaim by Allman's insurer is admissible under the 408(b) other 

purpose exception, "such as proving bias or prejudice of a witness, ..." (West Virginia Rules of 

Evidence, Rule 408(b )). 

Officer Miller took the stand at trial and testified about the extent of his own serious 

injuries and his extensive time missed from work as a result of the crash (A.R. V.II at 230, line 4 

- A.R. V.II at 234, line 5; A.R. V.II at 252, line 9 - A.R. V.II at 254, line 14). Officer Miller also 

testified that nobody wrote Kevin Allman a ticket for anything arising from the crash, but that he 

(Officer Miller) sued Kevin Allman roughly two years after the accident. (A.R. V.II at 255, lines 
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2-15). Kevin Allman similarly confirmed that Officer Miller (and Miller's wife) had countersued 

him (Allman) one to two days before the case was previously scheduled for trial. (A.R. V.II at 

374, transcript p. 91, line 24 - p. 92, line 9). No reference was made by Miller or Allman 

regarding any compromise offers or negotiations in violation of Rule 408. 

Respondent Kevin Allman did not object to petitioners presenting the evidence of Officer 

Miller's serious medical injuries and inability to work following the crash. Petitioners' crash 

reconstruction expert Steve Chewning testified that the change in velocity that Kevin Allman 

experienced as a result of the crash was slightly more than the change ofvelocity that Officer 

Miller experienced. (A.R. V.II at 197, line 24 - A.R. V.II at 198, line 3). In that context, the fact 

that Officer Miller claimed that he was injured and thereafter sued Kevin Allman (but did not 

issue Allman a traffic ticket for any violation) was relevant to show the probable extent of the 

injuries which Allman had also suffered and the reasonableness of Allman similarly initiating 

litigation against Officer Miller to recover compensation. 

Evidence of that Officer Miller subsequently settled his claim with Kevin Allman's 

insurance company was irrelevant to Officer Miller's defense and was properly refused by the 

trial court because it would have misled the jury and created unfair prejUdice to Kevin Allman by 

inferring that Allman had conceded liability to Miller. 

Reduced to its essence, petitioners are complaining that the trial court did not allow them 

to tell the jury that respondent Allman's insurance company decided that instead of proceeding to 

trial, it would be cheaper to pay Officer Miller a nominal sum in settlement of the Officer 

Miller's counterclaim lawsuit. At trial, petitioners attempted to present evidence that Allman's 

insurer paid money to Miller (an amount not disclosed to the plaintiff, but believed to be 
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$15,000). The sole purpose of that proffer by the defendants was to infer that such payment was 

an admission of fault by Allman (who had absolutely nothing to do with the payment decision by 

his insurer). As such, it would have been highly prejudicial and improperly admitted as evidence 

in violation or Rule 408 if it were allowed. 

Regardless of whether the evidence would have been prejudicial to the defendants 

(because it was a small nuisance value settlement amount) or prejudicial to the plaintiff (by 

misleading the jury to think that Allman had conceded liability to Miller), testimony about the 

insurer's settlement of petitioner Miller's counterclaim was totally in-elevant to the questions of 

liability and damages which were the subject of this jury trial. The evidence that Allman's 

insurer settled with Miller prior to trial was properly excluded. 

v. 	 Response to Petitioners' Assignment of Error 5: It was not en-or for Respondent's 
counsel to suggest (in both opening statement and closing argument without objection 
from Petitioners' counsel) that the jury should assess of an amount of money which the 
jury believed Respondent Allman would reasonably be expected to accept in exchange for 
his injuries if he had been given the choice. 

There was no objection by the Petitioners' counsel at trial, and no violation of the "golden 

rule" proscription, when respondent's attorney asked the jury to consider what amount Kevin 

Allman might have accepted as fair payment had he seen a want ad in the newspaper which 

provided him the opportunity to participate and accept specified injuries in return for the 

compensation which was offered. 

In opening statement, Respondent's counsel summarized the damages issue as follows: 

And then you'll have to decide if you find that it was the officer's 
fault, which is entirely your decision, then you have to decide, ok, 
what's fair? What is fair? What should Kevin receive as fair 
compensation? Not a penny more, not a penny less. But let's say 
he saw an ad in the paper, and it said, you know, here's a chance to 
be in a crash. You can take these injuries. And what do you charge 
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us to be in this crash? And that's the amount that would be fair, 
whatever would be fair for him to be in the condition that he was in 
afterwards, have his car totaled, and have personal problems as a 
result of the crash that his wife will describe for you. 

CA.R. V.II at 111, lines 8-19). 

Petitioners interposed no objection to the above comments by respondent's counsel 

during or after the opening statement. During closing argument, respondent's counsel reiterated 

exactly the same theme, again with no objection whatsoever from Petitioners' counsel: 

And I'll submit to you, let's say, as I said in opening, let's say that 
there was an ad in the paper and it said, "Okay. You can get rear
ended by a police officer, and you'll be in a bad mood for the next 
several years, and then have a short fuse for the rest ofyour life. 
What amowlt, Kevin, do you think is fair? Would you volunteer to 
step up for it?" And that's the amount. The amount between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller. That's what would be fair. So 
whatever's fair to him. 

CA.R. V.II at 318, line 23 - A.R. V.II at 319, line 8). 

There was never any suggestion, nor even a remote inference, that the jury should put 

themselves in Kevin Allman's shoes. The jurors were asked to return a fair verdict for Kevin 

Allman. It was suggested that the jury might consider what amount that Kevin Allman would 

find to be fair, what amount would he have stepped up and accepted, as a fair exchange ifhe had 

been given the choice of whether or not to accept his injuries in exchange for the payment. 

Everyone in the courtroom knew that the word "you" in the question, "Would you volunteer to 

step up for it?" was clearly referencing Kevin in the third person context, and was not referencing 

the jury or any member of the jury directly or indirectly in the first person context. 

At no time during the trial did the petitioners ever assert that the above-quoted comments 

violated their motion in limine against arguing the "golden rule". There was no objection made 

regarding the comments during the trial- not following the opening statement, not following the 
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closing argument, and at no time prior to deliberations and the verdict. The verdict was returned 

November 17,2016. 

Subsequent to the verdict, there was still no objection, no mention whatsoever, regarding 

any concern about respondent's counsel's comments in opening statement or closing argument. 

And later, in the petitioners' subsequent motion and brief requesting a new trial which was 

served upon respondents on December 1, 2016, a full two weeks after the verdict, there was no 

objection stated, no mention whatsoever, of any possible prejudice to the petitioners, nor any 

violation of a "golden rule" (or otherwise) related to the comments of respondent's counsel in 

opening statement and closing argument. (A.R. V.I at 42 - 66). 

The petitioners did not raise any objection, nor did they apparently perceive any reason to 

raise an objection, at trial. They did not raise any objection in their motion for new trial. Ifthere 

was a valid objection, it was not preserved and it has been waived. More important, there was no 

cognizable prejudice to the petitioners arising from the comments of respondent's coUnsel asking 

the jury (in both opening statement and closing argument) to return a verdict in an amount that 

would be fair to respondent Kevin Allman. 

VI. 	 Response to Petitioners' Assignments of Error 6 and 7: The jury's award of $200,000 
in general damages to Respondent Kevin Allman was consistent with the undisputed life 
changing injuries which Allman suffered as a result of the negligence of Petitioner Miller 
and the jury's award of $4,500 for Respondent Allman's lost wages was based upon 
Allman's undisputed and uncontradicted testimony (presented without objection at the 
.trial). 

The jury's award of $200,000 is consistent with the non-economic damages that Kevin 

Allman incurred as a direct and proximate result of the Officer Miller's negligent and 

irresponsibly careless operation of the city police car which he crashed into Kevin Allman after 

running a red light at over 62 mph on a city street in Parkersburg, particularly in light of the fact 
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that the injuries that the Kevin Allman suffered have caused Kevin Allman to undergo substantial 

physical pain, significant delay in his career opportunities, ongoing short term memory loss, 

tangible lost enjoyment of life, long term alteration of his ability to control his emotions, long 

term anxiety, and various other uncontested damages that were presented to the jury. 

Respondent Kevin Allman testified that he "figured up" his lost wages at $4,500. 

(AR.V. II at 373, transcript p. 87, lines 17-21). That testimony was not refuted by the petitioners 

at trial. The petitioners had plaintiff Allman's tax and wage records through discovery. If there 

was any inconsistency as to the amount of lost wages incurred by Kevin Allman, the petitioners 

would have presented that evidence. Alternatively petitioners could have, or should have, made 

a motion to exclude or throw out the lost wage evidence presented by Kevin Allman. If there 

was any sustainable objection to the lost wage evidence, it should have been made to the trial 

court. 

In the absence of objection, any concern about admissibility is waived. If the evidence 

was deemed by the petitioners to be legally insufficient, the petitioners should have raised that 

issue with the trial court instead of allowing a lost wage option on the verdict form. Petitioners 

did not object to the "Special Verdict Form" (AR. V.II at 270, line 15 - A.R. V.II at 271, line

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